
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Wednesday, 22 
September 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to 
be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Operational Services Update (Pages 7 - 26)

6. Flats Recycling Update (Pages 27 - 36)

7. Taxi Tariff (Pages 37 - 42)

8. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22 (Pages 43 - 52)

9. Corporate Register of Partnership (Pages 53 - 66)



10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

11.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 

Items likely to be considered in private 

None. 

Members

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Gurdip Ram Bungar
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Alan Ridgers
Brian Sangha
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Tuesday, 8 June 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Gurdip Ram Bungar
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Alan Ridgers
Brian Sangha
Frank Wardle
John Burden

Stuart Alford Assistant Director (Environment)
Mark Lees Regulatory Services Manager
Clare Reed Senior Environmental Health Officer
Ciara Ferguson Committee Services Support Assistant (Minutes)

1. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair) and Cllr John Burden 
attended as his substitute.

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 24 March 2021 were signed by the Vice-
Chair.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

4. Presentation on Food Hygiene and Safety 

The Committee received a presentation from the Senior Environmental Health Officer, on the 
work completed by the Commercial Team regarding food safety. 

The presentation can be viewed on the link below:
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s63033/Presentation%20on%20Food%20
Hygiene%20and%20Safety.pdf

Page 3 Agenda Item 2

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s63033/Presentation%20on%20Food%20Hygiene%20and%20Safety.pdf
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s63033/Presentation%20on%20Food%20Hygiene%20and%20Safety.pdf


Operational Services Cabinet Committee 8.06.2021

2

Following questions from the Committee; the Senior Environmental Health Officer 
highlighted the following:

 Food businesses are not normally informed when an inspection will take place. 
During lockdowns, some visits were announced as, for example, inspections were 
taking place at residential homes which required the inspector to take a lateral flow 
test before entering the premises. 

 Inspections will still be taking place on the physical site of the food premises. The 
technical advancements will make the on-site inspections easier as inspectors will be 
able to have the inspection document pre-loaded on a laptop or handheld device so 
that information can be input on site. Moreover, guidance and registration forms can 
be easily accessed by the inspectors to show to the food businesses during the visit. 

 In regards to some of the examples showcased during the presentation and the 
timescale it can take for these issues to occur, the Senior Environmental Health 
Officer reassured Members that they were old photographs that were extraordinary 
examples. Most businesses in Gravesham are rated 4 or 5 and the businesses which 
do not meet these high standards (3 or lower) are inspected every six months as they 
are higher risk premises.

 Following a question about how quickly the Commercial team will handle the backlog 
of cases caused by the pandemic, the Senior Environmental Health Officer explained 
that the team is prioritising inspections in order of high risk to low risk. The officer 
also explained that 107 of the backlog of cases are new food businesses, a lot of 
which are in the low risk category as they are domestic cooking businesses selling 
cupcakes, cookies etc. 

Members noted the contents of the presentation.  

5. Update on recent Waste Sector Government Consultations 

The Assistant Director (Operations) provided the Committee with an update on the current 
Government Consultations which relate to the Waste & Recycling Service. 

The presentation can be viewed on the link below:
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s63029/Update%20on%20Current%20Was
te%20Related%20Government%20Consultations.pdf

In response to Members questions, the Assistant Director (Operations) highlighted the 
following:

 In regards to the Deposit Return Scheme (DRS), a Member asked if the price of the 
deposit was known. The Assistant Director (Operations) explained that at the 
moment a price range of 10p to 40p is being considered. It was also mentioned that a 
concern for the DRS would be the potential for bin raiding. 

 Following a question regarding the deposits which are not claimed back through the 
DRS, it was explained to Members that the unclaimed deposits would be re-invested 
into the scheme and used by the System Administrator as funding for other 
environmental projects. 

 As part of its response to the Consistency Consultation the Council will provide 
strong feedback to the Government that all the schemes within the consultant 
especially Garden Waste should be fully funded to cover loss of income and service 

Page 4

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s63029/Update%20on%20Current%20Waste%20Related%20Government%20Consultations.pdf
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s63029/Update%20on%20Current%20Waste%20Related%20Government%20Consultations.pdf


Operational Services Cabinet Committee 8.06.2021

3

delivery costs.  Currently all authorities in Kent have a chargeable garden waste 
scheme and would be affected financially if the Government did not cover the entirety 
of the costs.

 In regards to a question about the accessibility for the waste bins and services for 
flats, the officer reassured Members that they are already considering ways for how 
to introduce food waste collections for flats. Moreover, guidance on new builds is that 
food waste has to be included and developers are required to pay for the correct 
waste bins.

 Following a question on the exportation of Gravesham waste abroad; the Assistant 
Director (Operations) explained that a small proportion of Gravesham’s plastic is sent 
abroad. This waste is well audited in order to ensure it goes to the correct place and 
every year an End Destination Charter is published to document where all the waste 
from Kent goes. 

Members noted the contents of the update. 
 

6. Corporate Performance Report: Q4 2020-21 

The Committee were presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Four 2020-2021 
(January to March 2021).

The officers went through each policy commitment in turn and provided an update on what 
activity had and/or would be delivered in order to successfully realise the policy 
commitments. The following comments were made by the officers during the update:

PI 3 – The increase seen on the chart represents an additional 8 reported incidents within a 
three month period, some of which are wrongly reported through the system and some of 
which represent slips and falls in the workplace. 

PI 4 – The figures are distorted due to some inspections not taking place due to the Covid-
19 lockdowns; when a food business has missed an inspection it is classed as ‘non broadly 
compliant’ therefore explaining the dip in the chart. The gradual dip does not therefore 
necessarily reflect a dip in food safety standards. 

PI 9 – There has been an increase in the residual waste collected per household, this is a 
result of national lockdowns which have caused people to be at home more and an increase 
in home decorating. As there has been an increased demand for bulky waste collections, 
frontline staff are working every other Saturday to keep up with the demand. 

PI 11 – There has been a slight increase in graffiti across the borough. The council are 
working on getting different bodies to take responsibility for graffiti on their assets, for 
example passing the removal process on to Network Rail if the graffiti is on their bridge.  

PI 39 – The council’s service is more efficient now as inspectors carry iPads when they visit 
playgrounds which they can then use to load all the documents from the independent body 
inspection. This reduces the need to print off loads of paper and makes the process quicker. 

Following questions from the Committee; the Assistant Director (Operations) and Regulatory 
Services Manager highlighted the following:

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 8.06.2021

4

 A question was asked in regards to PI 39 and whether all the playgrounds had 
passed the inspections, Members were informed that there were no high risk 
equipment found in any of the Gravesham playgrounds and therefore all playgrounds 
passed their inspections. 

 Regarding PI 5 and the quality of responses received by residents from the 
Environmental Protection team, the Regulatory Services Manager reassured 
Members that quality is not being sacrificed in order to respond within five working 
days. 

 The majority of shopping parades are visited seven days a week by waste removal 
services and generally there are no issues of overflowing bins and Bigbelly bins have 
been moved to Perry Street and Valley Drive to help reduce littering. The Assistant 
Director (Operations) is now looking at digital solutions such as collecting data to 
establish when a bin was emptied and how full it was when it was emptied, this would 
help with efficient bin emptying schedules. Furthermore, the concept of litter bin 
sensors is being considered for the rural areas as some bins in the rural area do not 
get as much usage. Therefore, a sensor could reduce the amount of times a bin gets 
unnecessarily emptied and a sensor would establish whether a bin is in a good 
location for usage. 

Members noted the information contained within the report.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.35 pm

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Service Cabinet Committee

Date: Wednesday, 22nd September 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Portfolio Performance Update - Operational Services Projects

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee with an update on 
Operational Services projects and performance.

Recommendations:
1. Information only.

1. Overview

1.1 All the teams within the Operational Services Team have continued to provide 
services through the COVID-19 pandemic including collecting refuse & 
recycling from residents’ homes, tending to parks and open spaces, continuing 
to provide a burial service and maintaining the Council’s fleet of vehicles.

1.2 The waste collection service has received the majority of the praise for the 
continuation of services to the public but all teams have worked hard to 
maintain their service areas.

1.3 While the Operational Services Team have continued to deliver vital services, 
numerous projects have been under way in the past 12 months. 

2. Street Cleansing

2.1 Protecting vital services such as refuse & recycling collections has meant that 
on occasion resources have had to be directed away from street cleansing, 
however this work is caught up on and disruption is kept to a minimum.

2.2 Some of the projects that are currently being progressed are outlined below. 
Improvements to the street cleansing service have continued to be made over 
the past 6 months. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

2.3 Parks & Shopping Parades Litter Bin Replacement Programme 

2.3.1 The parks & open spaces litter bin replacement programme,  roll-out of 
recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins, has continued with works beginning at the 
Riverside Leisure Area and at Woodlands Park.  

2.3.2 Across St Andrew’s Gardens, the Riverside Leisure Area, Woodlands 
Park and Camer Park, a 168% increase in litter capacity will be 
delivered.  

2.3.3 Some before and after images of the litter bins can be seen below.

2.3.4 Litter housings for bulk bins have also been installed to increase 
capacity at strategic areas in Camer Park, the Riverside Leisure Area 
and Woodlands Park.  An image of the new housings can be seen 
below.

        

Page 8



3

2.3.5 The work is being supported by a specific park anti-littering campaign.  
More detail about this campaign is shown in 2.5.

2.3.6 In conjunction with increased litter bin capacity, enhanced bin emptying 
and litter picking at weekends have improved litter management in our 
parks & open spaces.

2.4 Binfrastructure Grant Funding

2.4.1 In February 2021, Council Officers put in a bid for ‘Binfrastructure’ 
grant funds to support additional litter bin replacement and 
improvement works, in-line with the governments’ ‘Right Bin, Right 
Place’ guidance and the Council’s own Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy.

2.4.2 In response to our successful bid, GBC was awarded £13,180.40 by 
WRAP (the ‘Waste & Resource Action Plan’) and DEFRA to go 
towards our shopping parades litter bin replacement and recycling ‘on-
the-go’ programme. Shop fronts at 17 locations across the borough will 
benefit from the new bins and improvement works which are currently 
underway.

2.4.3 Photos of some of the new bins in-situ at The Hill, Northfleet can be 
seen below.

 

                            

2.4.4 A full list of locations can be seen below.

 Camer Parade
 Dene Holm Road
 Dickens Parade
 Echo Square
 Istead Rise
 Kitchener Avenue
 Lawrance Square
 Lion Roundabout
 Livingstone Road
 Milton Ale Shades
 The Alma

Page 9



4

 The Bay (Vigo)
 The Hive
 The Hill
 Whinfell Way
 Perry Street
 Valley Drive

2.4.5 The new bins will increase available litter capacity and will allow users 
to recycle their litter.    

2.5 Parks & Town Centre Litter Campaign 

2.5.1 Following on from the previous anti-littering campaigns rather than the 
same generic message being used across the borough, new 
campaigns have been developed. 

2.5.2 There has been bespoke signage produced with specific messages for 
specific locations.  These include Gravesend town centre (which can 
be seen in 2.5.2.1) and parks & open spaces (which can be seen in 
2.5.2.2).

2.5.2.1 Gravesend Town Centre Campaign Signage

                 
                    

                                  

Page 10



5

2.5.2.2 Parks & Open Spaces Campaign Signage

                               

                                           

2.5.3 Future campaigns will include a rural focus (the concepts of which can 
be seen below) and a bespoke campaign for Perry Street.

 

Page 11



6

2.5.4 The aim of the campaigns is to make the public think about what they 
do with their litter when they are out and about in our community.

2.6 New 15 Tonne Scarab 

2.6.1 A new large mechanical sweeper was delivered in April 2021.  The 
new sweeper has helped to make our street sweeping service more 
efficient.

2.6.2 The new sweeper is being used on the main routes and rural areas, 
freeing up the other machines to provide more frequent sweeping in 
smaller residential streets.

2.6.3 Anecdotally, the smaller Scarab typically tips-off three times per day, 
whereas the 15t Scarab only needs to tip-off once per day, saving time 
and increasing fuel efficiency, as well as increasing the tonnage 
collected.

2.6.4 An image of the 15t Scarab in action can be seen below.

                  

2.6.5 While the new Scarab and sweeping regime has improved street 
sweeping efficiency, the street sweeping schedules continue to be 
adjusted to further refine & enhance the service.

2.7 Deep Clean Machine

2.7.1 The Street Cleansing Team have continued to use the Deep Clean 
Machine to remove chewing gum and grime from the town centre and 
from shopping parades across the borough.

2.7.2 A photo of the Deep Clean Machine in action can be seen below.

Page 12



7

2.8 Fly-Tipping 

2.8.1 The number of reported fly-tipping incidents increased by 29 in the 
year 2020-21 when compared with the previous year (see table in 
2.8.2).

2.8.2 GBC Fly-Tipping Figures in Financial Years - This table shows the 
recorded fly-tipping incidents from 2018/19 to present on a monthly 
and yearly basis.

Month
 

Recorded 
Incidents
2018/19

+/- 
previous 

year
 

Recorded 
Incidents
2019/20

+/- previous 
year

 

Recorded 
Incidents
2020/21

+/- 
previous 

year

April 179 +41 134 -45 229 +95

May 239 -41 178 -61 183 +5

June 230 -9 169 -61 215 +46

July 230 +4 254 +24 164 -90

August 224 +54 186 -38 184 -2

September 237 +6 184 -53 187 +3

October 121 +6 222 +101 181 -41

November 166 +42 201 +35 127 -74

December 175 +72 138 -37 203 +65

January 122 -58 232 +110 216 -16

February 175 +33 219 +44 178 -41

March 142 -32 161 +19 240 +79

TOTAL: 2,240 +118 2,278 +38 2,307 +29
Successful 
prosecutions 
incl. FPNs:

18 -4 3 -15 61 58

Page 13



8

The number of incidents reported is generated by completed customer service forms and 
internal reports, both over the phone and through the online reporting mechanism. 

2.8.3 To help combat and deal with fly-tipping, a new Environmental 
Enforcement Team was set-up in September 2020. 

2.8.4 Fly-tipping reports go to the Enforcement Team in the first instance 
where they are triaged to determine which reports are viable for 
investigation.  All reports ultimately end up with Waste Management for 
clearance. 

2.8.5 The Waste Management Team have a close working relationship with 
the Environment Enforcement Team and monthly joint team meetings 
are held to identify fly-tipping hotspots, to identify areas for targeted 
education campaigns and to identify locations for covert cameras to be 
deployed.

2.8.6 The Environmental Enforcement Team have been carrying out 
proactive enforcement action against those responsible for fly-tipping.  
To date, 60 Fixed Penalty Notices have been issued and one 
prosecution has taken place at Magistrates Court, with more cases 
being prepared.

2.8.7 The Communications Team have promoted key messages and have 
publicised successful enforcement action, which has fostered support 
from the general public.  There is also ongoing dialogue with Parish 
Councils on fly-tipping in rural areas.

2.8.8 The Waste Management and Environmental Enforcement Teams have 
worked together on targeted letter drops in areas such as Edwin Street 
and Peacock Street to educate residents about their waste collections 
etc.  If successful, this initiative will be used in other areas.

2.9 Street Cleansing Improvements - Bartec Collective

2.9.1 To modernise and develop the Street Cleansing service, the Bartec 
Street Cleansing module is being implemented within our current 
system.

2.9.2 The Street Cleansing module will deliver the following improvements:

2.9.2.1 Removal of paper schedules - Each cleansing role will have a 
digital work pack where work will be marked off once 
completed. This will allow the Managers to monitor work 
throughout the day and provide an audit trail of work 
completed.  It will also allow for new service requests to be 
immediately allocated to the relevant crew rather than through 
a phone call or a paper job ticket that would normally be 
allocated the next working day.

2.9.2.2 Real-time customer updates - Customers will be able to 
receive real-time updates when a job is completed by the 
crews.

Page 14



9

2.9.2.3 Litter bins - The system will map the locations of the litter bins, 
log when the bins have been emptied, the capacity when 
emptied and record defects such as graffiti and can include a 
picture.  This will enable the emptying regimes to be revised 
dependant on the fill level over time and defects to be 
rectified.

2.9.2.4 Fly-tipping - The system will facilitate dynamic routing of fly-
tipping removals, photos before and after the job, 
instantaneous completion of the job on the system which will 
update the person who has reported the issue.  This will 
replace the current manual system of the Waste Management 
Team updating the Dash system once the waste is removed.

2.9.2.5 Improved Reporting - Street Cleansing staff will be able to 
immediately report any issues they witness on their rounds as 
a service request to be rectified, such as graffiti.  

2.9.2.6 Bulky Collections - The system will deliver dynamic routing of 
the bulky waste collections and will immediately update the 
customer once the job has been completed.

2.9.2.7 Performance Monitoring - The system will facilitate better 
performance monitoring against service management 
performance targets.  It will store the history to every job 
allowing the team to better understand where street cleansing 
resources need to be deployed.

2.9.2.8 Assets will be mapped - The system will allow for assets such 
as litter bins to be mapped and assigned an asset number.  
This will allow the team to have a more consistent record of 
street cleansing assets and their history rather than the 
current excel spreadsheet which only lists the locations of all 
the bins.

3. Refuse & Recycling

3.1 Over the past 18 months, the COVID-19 pandemic has continued to place 
demands on the refuse & recycling service, however the service has been 
maintained to ensure a 100% collection rate during this period.

3.2 The Council achieved a recycling rate of 43.5% in the year 2020-21, as a 
result of the dry recycling, food waste and garden waste collections. This was 
an increase of 1.0% when compared to 2019-20 (see table 2.3.4.1).

3.3 Recycling Improvements

3.3.1 In the financial year 2020-21, an additional 3,826.5 tonnes of 
household waste was collected, an increase of 13.1% when compared 
to 2019-20. 

3.3.2 When compared to the same period in 2019-20, 13.0% more refuse 
and 13.2% more recycling and composting (food and garden waste) 
was collected in 2020-21, as shown in the table below.

Page 15



10

Year-on-Year Tonnage Collection Performance                      

3.3.3 Effective social media communication and advertising in the past year 
has continued to deliver key messages to residents about correct 
recycling.

3.3.4 Officers have continued to work closely with the Kent Resource 
Partnership to produce educational videos, animations and 
communications materials to inform residents about what to recycle 
and happens to their waste and recycling after it has been collected.

3.3.5 A separate report will be brought to Committee regarding 
improvements to recycling within flats.

3.4 Percentage of Waste from Household Recycling

3.4.1 The Council achieved a recycling rate of 43.5% in the year 2020-21, as 
a result of the dry recycling, food waste and garden waste collections. 
This was an increase of 1.0% when compared to 2019-20 (see table 
below).

            % of Waste from Household Recycling

Tonnages Collected
Refuse Recycling Food Waste Garden Waste Total

2020-21 17,751.2 7,896.4 3,307.5 4,085.0 33,040.1
2019-20 15,708.4 6,840.0 3,143.9 3,521.3 29,213.6

Difference: +2,042.8 +1,056.4 +163.6 +563.7 +3,826.5
% Change: +13.0% +15.4% +5.2% +16.0% +13.1%

% Increase in Refuse: +13.0%
% Increase in Recycling & Composting: +13.2%

April - Jun Jul - Sept Oct - Dec Jan - Mar Average

2016-17 37.2% 34.9% 35.0% 32.8% 35.0%

2017-18 37.3% 45.2% 41.9% 38.4%      40.7%

Page 16



11

*Provisional results

3.4.2 Recycling and refuse tonnages are gathered from weighbridge data 
that is entered onto a master spreadsheet on a daily basis. The 
percentage of household waste recycled is then calculated by dividing 
the total recycling tonnage by total waste arisings from the borough.

3.5 Recycling Contamination

3.5.1 In the financial year 2020-21, the recycling contamination rate was 
9.3% compared to 12.3% the previous year, decrease of 1.0% when 
compared to 2019-20 (see table below).

Year-on-Year Contamination Rate by Quarter

3.5.2 The data is provided by KCC on a monthly basis.

2018-19 45.7% 43.1% 40.5% 39.2%      42.2%

2019-20 44.3% 44.1% 40.3% 41.3%  42.5%

2020-21 45.6% 45.0% 43.0% 40.8%  43.6%

2021-22 44.3%* - - - -

April - Jun Jul - Sept Oct - Dec Jan - Mar Average
2016-17 10.5% 9.0% 8.8% 10.1% 9.6%
2017-18 8.9% 10.8% 10.6% 9.7% 10.0%
2018-19 7.8% 11.5% 11.5% 10.8% 10.4%
2019-20 12.9% 13.9% 12.7% 9.8% 12.3%
2020-21 8.6% 9.0% 9.3% 10.4% 9.3%

Page 17



12

3.5.3 To support our residents to recycle correctly, in the summer edition of 
Your Borough we published an article to show residents what should 
be recycled and how to find out if a particular item can be recycled.  

3.5.4 The piece also showed an image of a contaminated recycling load that 
was rejected for non-conformance in order to illustrate the extent of 
contamination found in some of the loads collected.

3.5.5 The Waste Supervisor has also been issuing leaflets to residents and 
stickering bins which have not been collected because the bin contains 
non-recyclable materials and is therefore considered to be 
contaminated.  

3.5.6 An educational recycling animation has also been produced and 
shared with residents on social media.

3.6 Residual Waste per Household (kg per Household)

3.6.1 Residual waste per household in the year 2020-21 was 481.14 kgs. 
Compared to the year 2019-20, there was an increase of 12.5% in 
residual waste collected per household (see table below). 

Residual Waste per Household (kg per Household)

 

 

 

*Provisional results

3.6.2 The financial year 2020-21 saw an increase in the amount of residual 
waste collected from households. With more people at home during the 
COVID-19 lockdown periods, more waste was generated within homes 
as schools and workplaces were closed. 

April - Jun Jul - Sept Oct - Dec Jan - Mar End of 
Year Total

2016-17 131.21 127.96 124.33 128.60 512.10

2017-18 119.97 101.30 101.63 108.80 431.70

2018-19 108.50 105.24 109.51 108.97 432.23

2019-20 107.09 103.92 107.80 108.71 427.53

2020-21 123.76 114.75 117.76 124.87 481.14

2021-22 128.28* - - - -

Page 18



13

3.6.3 However, there was also an increase in the amount of recyclable waste 
collected which has ensured that the Council’s recycling performance 
has been maintained.

3.7 Pledge2Recycle Plastics Project 

3.7.1 Officers have been engaging with the Kent Resource Partnership, 
RECOUP (a plastics recycling charity) and other Kent councils to 
deliver the Pledge2Recycle Plastics community education programme.  

3.7.2 The plastics recycling education project will run throughout Kent from 
summer 2021 through to spring 2022.  

3.7.3 The project aims to minimise confusion about plastics recycling in 
order to minimise contamination and increase plastics recycling.  
Residents will also be encouraged to reduce, reuse and recycle 
plastics as much as possible.

3.7.4 An educational advertisement has been included in the Autumn edition 
of Your Borough.

3.7.5 Representatives from RECOUP arranged a stall at Sainsburys at 
Pepperhill on 28th July to directly engage with residents.

3.7.6 The leaflet shown below will be delivered to all Gravesham households 
in February 2022.

Page 19



14

                  

4. Horticultural Services

4.1 Remembrance Poppies

4.1.1 COVID-19 meant that Remembrance Services could not be held as 
normal in 2020.  In response, the Horticultural Service Teams 
displayed giant poppies at various locations in the borough.

4.1.2 These locations were:

 Springhead Recreation Ground
 Northfleet Cemetery Lodge
 Springvale Court
 Thames Way near Maritime Gate
 Crooked Lane opposite the Three Daws
 St. Andrew’s Gardens

Page 20



15

 Portreeve Court
 Fort Gardens
 Gordon Gardens
 Merston Court
 Racefield Close
 St Gregory’s Court
 Medhurst Gardens 
 Cascades Leisure Centre

4.1.3 Photos of the poppies at St Andrew’s Gardens and at Portreeve Court 
can be seen below.

 

 

 

4.2 Playgrounds Inspection Software

4.2.1 As detailed previously, dedicated playground inspection software has 
been procured by the Horticultural Services Team to enhance the 
collation of reports and the monitoring of repairs.  

4.2.2 Feedback from the Park Rangers has been positive and the software 
has enabled the team to plan works more efficiently, check that works 
have been completed and also monitor defects more closely.

4.3 Buzz Garden

4.3.1 Works on the ‘Buzz Garden’ at Windmill Gardens have continued with 
additional plants being planted, composting areas constructed, a 
gabion bench installed and signage and interpretation put in place.  

4.3.2 Together, the wild and the cultivated areas will help to provide 
bumblebees with food and shelter throughout the seasons.

4.3.3 An image of the Buzz Garden can be seen below.

Page 21



16

  

4.4 Wildflower Meadows 

4.4.1 Wildflower meadows and set-aside land at open spaces for increased 
biodiversity, carbon capture and improved soil chemistry have 
continued to be developed this year as part of the Climate Change 
Action Plan. 

4.4.2 A selection of images of wildflower meadows across the borough can 
be see in 4.4.2.1 and 4.4.2.2.

4.4.2.1  Approach to Camer Park

        

Page 22



17

4.4.2.2  Junction of Mulberry Road & Nightingale Close

      

5. Cemetery Services

5.1 Changes to Funeral Services

5.1.1 Due to the pandemic we introduced set funeral service times this was 
to enable us to carefully manage any increase in demand.  This has 
worked very well and with some minor adjustments we will be keeping 
this arrangement for the foreseeable future  

5.1.2 Funerals are offered at the following set times 10am, 12noon and 2pm 
(cremated remains, baby burials and re-opens for 1’s only) Monday to 
Thursday and only 10am and 12 noon on a Friday. 

5.2 Improvements at Northfleet Cemetery 

5.2.1 In June 2021 some groundwork took place to the roadway running 
between through Northfleet Cemetery. The work was to remove the 
roundabout, straighten the roadway and create some passing bays. 

5.2.2 This has made it a lot easier for funeral cars coming into and out of the 
cemetery, as there is no longer a tight turn on the roundabout for them 
to negotiate.  We have also been able to create another 15-20 burial 
spaces which we have started to allocate. 

5.2.3 The below photo shows the roundabout removed and roadway now 
straight the temporary fence will be removed once the ground is fully 
settled and the grass has started to come through.

Page 23



18

                                    

5.2.4 Further works will commence in the coming months to remove broken 
and unused pathways which will then be top soiled and grass seeded 
in readiness for full body burials in the next financial year (2022/23). 

5.2.5 It is estimated that 30 to 40 grave spaces may become available which 
could potentially give an income of £60,000 as at the current cemetery 
fees, if sold as headstone plots and dug for minimum of two 
interments.

5.2.6 We are also looking at other improvements, such as renewing the 
perimeter fence.

6. Vehicle Workshop

6.1 Brookvale Workshop MOT Bay

6.1.1 GBC fleet cars and vans currently have to be MOT tested at a local 
garage, incurring a labour cost of physically driving a van to a local 
MOT centre and back, a small cost in fuel for the journey and 
potentially increased downtime of that vehicle due to inefficiencies of 
local MOT providers.

6.1.2 An MOT facility is being installed alongside the work currently being 
carried out with Rosherville Servicing Ltd.  The service will ultimately 
cover:

 MOT Testing for all GBC fleet vehicles class 4 (car and small van) 
and class 7 (vans and minibuses up to 3500kgs)

 MOT testing for third party vehicles (Class 4 & 7).

6.1.3 The Councils’ van fleet will be tested in the new in-house facility at a 
saving of approximately £3,500 for 2020/21 increasing to 

Page 24



19

approximately £5,000 per year from 2022/23.  This calculation is based 
on the current van fleet of 61 vehicles requiring annual testing rising to 
95 vehicles over 3 years old.

6.1.4 Current progress on the MOT bay can be seen below.

 

6.2 Local Employment Opportunities

6.2.1 The vehicle workshop has a history of providing training & 
employments opportunities to local young people.

6.2.2 Two workshop apprentice fitters began in October 2020 and have been 
progressing well.  They were taken on as a result of successful work 
placements from North Kent College.  

6.2.3 We are currently exploring the possibility of providing additional work 
placements to aid the professional development of other local young 
persons from North Kent College.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 25



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There are no legal implications.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are a number of projects within this document which are funded and some 
where funding will be required. Where funding is required these projects will go 
through the normal funding process.

Risk Assessment The projects contained within this report are designed to improve service delivery 
and impact directly in the aims of the new Corporate Plan.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and delivering  
projects and initiatives to further increase recycling.

Climate Change #1 Strategic Environment - Review the council’s position of recycling in all flats and 
introduce recycling bins in public areas such as high streets, public spaces.  

Crime and Disorder There are no implications.

Digital and website 
implications

The campaigns and projects detailed will have an impact on the Digital Team due 
to necessary changes in website design, social media promotion and amendments 
to online forms and back-office processes.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications.

Page 26

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Wednesday, 22nd September 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Recycling within Flats Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Members on the improvements being made to recycling provision at flats within 
the borough to increase resident participation, optimise recyclate capture and to minimise 
recycling contamination. 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. Overview

1.1 In the past 12 months work has been undertaken to introduce recycling and 
improve resident participation at a number of flatted developments.  Now that the 
concept has been proven, a plan has been developed to roll-out flats recycling 
improvements in a more structured way.

1.2 An audit of all flats within the borough is underway.  Flats in the scope of this 
review include purpose-built flats with communal waste & recycling storage areas.

1.3 All HRA flats have been audited, while the audit of private flats will commence 
imminently. 

1.4 To date, 181 blocks of flats have been identified in the borough, of which 68 of 
these blocks (37%) are Housing Revenue Accounts (HRA) flats.

1.5 Currently, 1,596 out of 2,292 GBC flats, or 70%, have dry mixed recycling 
provision.

1.6 A preliminary desktop audit of private flats in the borough has revealed that 
approximately 36 out of 113 private blocks of flats (32%) currently have dry mixed 
recycling provision.

Page 27 Agenda Item 6



2

2. Project Stages

2.1 The latest recycling improvements at flatted developments will be delivered in 
three project stages, although the intention is to run the phases concurrently 
wherever possible:

2.1.1 Stage 1: Sheltered Flats - To introduce dry mixed recycling at Longferry 
Court, Blenheim Grove and Cleveland House (83 properties), and to 
introduce food waste collections to trial a larger scale operation at all 16 
blocks containing 454 flats.  An outline of this programme of work is 
detailed separately in 3.1 to 3.8.

2.1.2 Stage 2: General Housing Flats - To liaise with the Service Manager 
(Housing & Operations) and external contractors to improve waste storage 
provision and to introduce dry mixed recycling to the 19 blocks that 
currently do not have recycling provision.  These improvements will give 
655 more flats dry mixed recycling provision.  To also communicate with 
residents to improve recyclate capture and to reduce contamination.

2.1.3 Stage 3: Private Flats - To undertake a full audit of the private blocks of 
flats identified as being without dry mixed recycling in order to identify the 
relevant managing agents and to ascertain what receptacles will be 
required to deliver dry mixed recycling facilities.  Where feasible, food 
waste collections will also be offered.

2.2 All new receptacles and service improvements will be collated and will be inputted 
onto the Bartec Collective system to facilitate further analysis of the flats recycling 
service in future.

2.3 The larger scale flats food waste recycling trial at sheltered schemes will test the 
scalability of the service and will be considered as a future project for HRA and 
private flatted developments.  Feedback will be sought from residents and scheme 
managers in sheltered flats regarding the use of communal food waste bins.

2.4 The details of the Sheltered Flats Recycling Stage is outlined below.  A further 
update will be provided to Members to give feedback on this project and details of 
Stages 2 and 3 of the project will be outlined at a later date.

3. Recycling at Sheltered Flats Project Outline

3.1 The waste storage and provision at 16 sheltered flatted schemes have each been 
audited.

3.2 Where appropriate, Scheme Officers & Managers have granted access to waste 
storage areas and have provided additional information.

3.3 Currently, 371 out 454 GBC sheltered accommodation flats (82%) have dry mixed 
recycling collections.  None of the sheltered flats currently have access to food 
waste recycling facilities. 

3.4 The improvement works suggested will ensure that all 454 flats in sheltered 
accommodation schemes have access to dry mixed recycling & food waste 
recycling provision. 

Page 28



3

3.5 Service changes will be communicated to Scheme Managers and residents; all 
waste and recycling bins will be stickered and residents will receive leaflets 
explaining the recycling & food waste services.

3.6 Once the necessary bins, stickers and leaflets are procured, the service changes 
will be rolled out in five phases as set out below in 3.6.1, while the table in 3.6.2 
outlines the progress of the project to date.

3.6.1 Sheltered flats recycling roll-out

Phase Scheme No. of 
Properties

Estimated 
Completion Date

Johnson Close 12
Kennedy House 22
Rembrandt Drive & 
Romney Road 29

Chinnery Court 25

1

Merston Court 11

03.09.21

Claremont Place 19
Mike Spring Court 242
Shears Green Court 31

24.09.21

Chichester Rise 363
Pegasus Court 39

08.10.21

Cleveland House 334
Springvale Court 36

22.10.21

Longferry Court 31
Portreeve Court 38
St. Gregory's Court 49

5

Blenheim Grove 19

05.11.21

454

3.6.2 Project progress to date

Project Planning Timescale Complete?
Complete waste audit of Sheltered Schemes April 2021 Yes
Compile data and flats waste & recycling 
requirements

April 2021 Yes

Engage with Sheltered Team March 2021 Yes
Design bin stickers March 2021 Yes
Prepare project plan April 2021 Yes
Re-design Service Leaflet April 2021 Yes
Procurement
Liaise with the Recycling Officer to procure 
required bins

July 2021 Yes

Procure leaflets & bin stickers June 2021 Yes
Operational Phase
Identify appropriate waste collection rounds 
with the WMU

July 2021 Yes

Seek Approval from Refuse Manager August 2021 Yes
Seek Approval from Sheltered Housing 
Manager

August 2021 Yes

Update the appropriate waste collection 
rounds on Collective

As Required

Page 29



4

Organise the removal & delivery of new bins 
with the WMU

As Required

Update Collective to reflect the new 
‘features’ in operation

As Required

Sticker bins & deliver leaflets to Scheme 
Managers

As Required

Monitoring
Liaise with Scheme Managers and monitor 
recyclate quality

Ongoing

3.7 Some of the existing 240L recycling bins that are in service will be replaced with 
larger 1100L bins to improve the efficiency of collections.  In total, nine 240L 
recycling bins will be removed to be cleaned and re-used.

3.8 The resources and associated costs for the bins required are set out in 3.8.1 and 
the resources and associated costs for the communications materials required are 
set out in 3.8.2.

3.8.1 Sheltered flats bin requirements

Bin Type Quantity Unit 
Cost

Total Cost

1100L Recycling Bins (Grey) 6 £275.00 £1,650.00
140L Lock-Lid Food Waste bins 40 £51.00 £2,040.00
23L Kerbside Food Waste Bins 
(Black & Orange)

10 £3.20 £32.00

Kitchen Food Waste Caddies (Grey) 454 £1.35 £594.74
Total: £4,316.74

3.8.2 Sheltered flats communications materials

Communications Materials Quantity Unit Cost Total Cost
 Refuse & Bulky Stickers (800mm 
x 250mm)

28 £0.66 £18.48

‘Recycle Here’ Stickers (800mm x 
250mm)

14 £0.66 £9.24

‘Recycle Here’ Stickers (148mm x 
210mm)

70 £0.49 £34.30

‘No Black Sack’ Stickers (90mm x 
90mm)

42 £0.23 £9.66

140L Food Waste Bin Stickers 
(148mm x 210mm)

40 £1.17 £46.80

Informational Leaflets 454 £0.10 £45.40
Total: £163.88

4. New Communications Materials

4.1 Resident engagement will be vitally important in optimising recyclate capture and 
minimising contamination. 

Page 30



5

4.2 To support residents in understanding the new food waste recycling service and to 
educate residents about what should be put into recycling bins and what should 
not be put into them, new bin stickers and leaflets have been prepared.

4.3 The bin stickers will help residents to understand what should go into each bin 
and how to arrange for bulky waste to be collected.  The new bin stickers can be 
seen in 4.3.1 to 4.3.4 and in 4.4.1.

4.3.1 ‘Recycle Here’ Sticker for 1100L recycling bins.

4.3.2 ‘No Black Sacks’ Sticker for 1100L recycling bins.

Page 31



6

4.3.3 ‘Recycle Here’ Sticker for 240L recycling bins. 

4.3.4  Refuse & Bulky Bin Sticker for 1100L refuse bins.

Page 32



7

4.4 Images of the refuse and recycling stickers in use can be seen in 4.4.1.

4.4.1  

Page 33



8

4.5 It will be imperative to directly communicate with residents affected by the service 
changes.

4.6 To do so, a new leaflet has been designed to detail how to use the kitchen 
caddies and communal food waste bins; what can be recycled; as well as which 
items must not be put into recycling bins. Both sides of the A5 leaflet can be seen 
in 4.7.1.

4.7 The leaflets will be delivered to residents by the Scheme Managers or Waste 
Management Officers.

4.7.1

  

5. Finance

5.1 There are no financial requests arising from the proposed improvement works as 
any costs will be met using pre-existing departmental budgets.

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 34



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Under the Environmental Protection Act, the Council has a duty to collect 
household waste.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial requests arising from the proposed improvement works as 
any costs will be met using pre-existing departmental budgets.

Risk Assessment If action is not taken to offer recycling collections to flats without provision, recycling 
performance may not improve as anticipated.   

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and delivering  
projects and initiatives to further increase recycling.

Climate Change Under Objective #1 (cleaner environment) a pledge has been made to increase 
recycling in Gravesham.

Crime and Disorder There are no implications.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications.

Page 35

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 22 September 2021

Reporting officer: Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager

Subject: Review of Taxi Tariff

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members with the proposed consultation methodology relating to the previously 
agreed 2 yearly review of the taxi tariff.

Recommendations:
That Members:

1. Consider the proposed consultation methodology.

2. Instruct the Regulatory Services Manager to consult with the local taxi trade as 
proposed.

1. Background 

1.1 It is at the discretion of the Council as licensing authority to set a tariff for licensed 
hackney carriages operating within the borough.

1.2 Councils are not obliged to set a maximum tariff for their area, they can decide 
instead to rely on market forces to establish the going rate and at the same to 
promote competition.

1.3 In the past Gravesham Borough Council has chosen to set a tariff which 
represents the maximum that can be charged, rather than fixed or minimum fares.  
This means that a driver has the option of charging less than any tariff that is set if 
they so wish. 

1.4 The setting of fares applies only to hackney carriages drivers and not to private 
hire drivers who can charge their own rates as statute allows.  In practice 
however, many private hire drivers charge the rate set by the tariff for journeys 
within the borough as this leads to fewer arguments with customers who may 
otherwise be confused as to why charges differ for the same journey.

1.5 The taxi tariff was last reviewed in September/October 2019 and resulted in the 
implementation of an amended tariff proposed by the local trade. The current tariff 
is attached at Appendix 2.

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



2

1.6 It was also agreed that the ongoing undertaking from the council to routinely 
review the tariff every two years would remain in place, with the next review of the 
taxi tariff due to take place no later than September 2021.

1.7 The purpose of this paper is therefore to commence the review process in 
accordance with this undertaking.

2. Proposed Consultation Methodology

2.1 Taxi tariffs can be confusing, however there are two primarily elements which 
affect the fare:

2.1.1 ‘The flag’ – which is the amount shown on the meter at the start of a 
journey and therefore the minimum fare payable.

2.1.2 ‘The yardage’ (sometimes known as ‘the drop’ or ‘the fall’) – which dictates 
the rate at which the fare increases with distance whereby the fare 
increases more rapidly as the distance in yards decreases.

2.2 During the last review in 2019, in addition to the revised tariff put forwards by the 
local taxi trade, a number of other associated requests were made by them, 
namely:

2.2.1 To keep the flag to an amount that is a multiple of 20p.

2.2.2 Rather than consult on all elements of the tariff every two years, which can 
be excessively complex, to alternate between consulting on the flag and 
the yardage only, i.e. consult on the flag in 2021 and then the yardage two 
years later, and so on.

2.3 In keeping with these requests, it is proposed that the Licensing Team invite its 
licenced Hackney Carriage (Taxi) Drivers to advise, over a three-week period 
commencing no later than 24 September 2021, what their preferred option is from 
the following four choices for the flag:

2.3.1 For it to decrease it by 20p to £2.60

2.3.2 For it to remain the same at £2.80

2.3.3 For it to increase by 20p to £3.00

2.3.4 For it to increase by 40p to £3.20

2.4 As all licenced drivers in Gravesham are now required to provide an email 
address as part of their application, and acknowledge as part of their applications 
that all written communication will ordinarily be via email, it is proposed that 
consultation with drivers is done via email/online only, as has successfully been 
done in recent years.

2.5 The results from the consultation will be brought back to a future meeting of the 
Operational Services Cabinet Committee for consideration and subsequent 
determination by the Portfolio Holder for Operational Services in consultation with 
the Cabinet Committee.

Page 38



3

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 None.  Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 39



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal The authority for the council to fix fares for hackney carriages is given under 
Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.
When a council makes or varies a table of fares, it must publish in one local 
newspaper a notice setting out the table of fares, or variations to the table, 
specifying the period (not less than 14 days) within which, objections to the table or 
variations can be made.
A copy of the proposed tariff must then be available at the council’s offices for the 
public to inspect, free of charge, at all reasonable hours.
If there are no objections, the table, or variation, will come into effect on the 
expiration date of the period specified in the notice.
If there are objections the council must set a further date, within two months after 
the date first specified, on which the table is to come into force with or without 
modification, as decided. Any such modification would be dealt with by the portfolio 
holder using powers already delegated to them in the Constitution.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The cost of re-calibrating individual meters would be met by individual hackney 
carriage proprietors.
The £50 cost of the newspaper advertisement (required when changing the tariff) 
would be accommodated from within the G336/38102 (‘Advertising – not for 
recruitment’) budget of £500 for 21/22.

Risk 
Assessment

An unreasonably expensive tariff could be a source of resentment amongst the 
travelling public.  Equally, and just as importantly, the council's tariff limits the 
earning potential of its licensed taxi trade and so an unreasonably low tariff could 
be a source of resentment amongst the trade. 
Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 

Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes – An overly expensive taxi tariff may affect the ability of those on a low 
income to afford a taxi.  Members need to weigh up the effect of all potential 
users of taxis against the needs of the trade who provide the valuable service to 
local users.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

There are direct links to Objective #1 – People, and indirect links to support 
objective #2 Place.

Crime and 
Disorder

There are obvious links to community safety in ensuring an adequate supply of 
properly licensed taxis as a safe mode of transport for the public, particularly when 
other public transport is unavailable, for example during the night time economy 
period. An unreasonably low earning potential could reduce the number of licensed 
taxis and also therefore the ability for people to get home, or elsewhere, safely.

Page 40



5

Charging more than the maximum permitted fare is an offence.  Ensuring a simple 
tariff structure, that is easy for the public and drivers to understand, can reduce the 
likelihood of taxi meters being set at a higher than permitted rate, or for additional 
charges inadvertently being made.

Digital and 
website 
implications

The Digital Team would be asked to upload a copy of any updated Tariff on to the 
council's website and may be asked to assist in publicising any changes approved.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The current version of the council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy includes mandatory safeguarding training as a pre-requisite to being able to 
apply for a licence. Drivers and operators are required by way of licence conditions 
to report concerns of CSE to Kent Police. The policy also includes guidance on the 
use of immediate suspensions/revocations, which could potentially be used in 
instances of suspected or confirmed CSE to safeguard the public.

Page 41



6

APPENDIX 2 – CURRENT TARIFF

Rate 1 
For the first 320 yards £2.80
For each subsequent 160 yards or part thereof, or each 
stationary waiting period of 40 seconds £0.20

After 6 miles, for each additional 135.39 yards or part thereof, 
or each stationary waiting period of 40 seconds £0.20

Rate 2
For any hiring commenced:

 at any time on a bank holiday or public holiday
 between 18:00 and midnight on 24 December and 31 

December 
 between midnight and 06:00 on any other day
 at any time when carrying 5 to 8 passengers other than 

when Rate 4 would be in effect

Rate 1 + 50% 

Rate 3
 For any hiring commenced on Sundays between 06:00 

and midnight when carrying 1 to 4 passengers Rate 1 + £0.60

Rate 4
For any hiring commenced:

 between 00:01 on 25 December and 06.00 on 27 
December 

 between 00.01 on 1 January and 06.00 on 2 January
 between midnight and 06:00 when carrying 5 to 8 

passengers

Rate 1 + 100% 

Rate 5 
 For any hiring commenced on Sundays between 06:00 

and midnight when carrying 5 to 8 passengers Rate 2 + £0.60

Extra Charges
Any sundry expenses incurred (i.e. Toll Charges, Parking fees, 
Ferry Fees, Congestion Charges)

Amount Incurred

If vehicle is soiled to the extent that it has to be cleansed 
before re-use

£75.00

Page 42



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Committee

Date: 22 September 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Mark Lees - Regulatory Services Manager

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Operational Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter One 2021-22 (April to June 2021). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 43 Agenda Item 8



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Operational Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter One 2021-22, covering the period April to June 2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

2.4 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Background papers

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 44



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The Plan ensures the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 45

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 46



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

O P E R A T I O N A L  S E R V I C E S
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  1  :  2  0  2  1  -  2  2

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 47



P I  3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 11 3 4 5

2020-21 6 6 4 12

2021-22 7

2022-23

P I  4

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8%

2020-21 89.0% 87.7% 86.4% 84.0%

2021-22 83.2%

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring 
commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative standards.

Environmental Health (Commercial Team): 
In Q1, the team continued to lead on the Councils regulatory response to the coronavirus pandemic. Whilst 
most of the restrictions were lifted on 19 July, it is expected that elements of this work will continue for some 
time to help keep businesses safe, but through more established legislation e.g. Health and Safety at Work 
Act and associated Regulations. Although complaint numbers in Q1 were lower than earlier in the year, it is 
anticipated that these will go up again as we move further into Step 4.
  
Over the last 15 months COVID has had a profound impact on the usual work of the commercial team. 
However, the focus now is to get back on track with the food hygiene inspection programme.  The FSA have 
set out its recovery plan for LAs and have provided a framework for re-starting the food inspection delivery 
system in line with the Food Law Code of Practice. The emphasis is for all new food establishments and 
high risk / non-compliant establishments to be inspected, whilst taking a more flexible approach towards 
lower risk establishments.  Local Authorities must have regard to the plan which will continue until 2023-24, 
by which time all food businesses should be back in the inspection programme.

The FSA have made a small amount of funding available to local authorities to provide additional 
administrative resource to help prioritise new food business inspections. The team have applied for this 
grant and are currently awaiting the outcome. If successful, support staff will be utilised from other service 
areas (where there is capacity) to gather information on newly registered food businesses so officers can 
prioritise those who, by the nature of their business activities, present a greater risk to public health.

The PI for 'broadly compliant’ food establishments stands at 83.2% for Q1, which remains slightly below our 
usual value as the report used to capture this figure counts all premises not yet inspected as being non-
compliant, including newly registered food businesses of which there are now over 140 outstanding.
There are 137 food inspections outstanding from 2020-21 (all risk categories) and a further 258 due in 2021-
22 (all risk categories) as well as the 144 new food registrations.
 
The total number of reported H&S incidents indicator is dependent upon business compliance with formally 
reporting accidents to the HSE.  The seven incidents logged in Q1 does not directly reflect upon officer’s 
performance, but does serve to give some indication as to how safe premises in Gravesham are.

Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

% of broadly compliant food establishments

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 48



P I  5

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0%

2020-21 99.8% 99.0% 97.0% 98.0%

2021-22 98.0%

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 
household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in 
the borough.

#1 PEOPLE 

Environmental Protection update - Mark Lees

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

The Environmental Protection team’s ordinarily busy reactive workload addressing allegations of nuisance 
and handling of other service requests remained elevated during Q1, as it has across the pandemic, with 
269 incoming complaints and enquiries logged, compared to 158 for the same period in 2019.  The majority 
of these related to noise, which is generally the largest category of nuisance complaint received.

In addition, some 230 service requests were dealt with by the Commercial Team in Q1, compared to 44 for 
the same period in 2019 which is more representative of the usual Q1 value for that team, whose remit is 
ordinarily, largely taken up with food hygiene inspections and interventions.

Despite the Environmental Health teams collectively processing just shy of 500 service requests in Q1, 98% 
of all ‘routine’ complaints still received a first response five working days. 

Our air quality strategies are largely progressed via the planning process. The Environmental Protection 
Team respond to all relevant planning applications and the officers play an active part in working groups 
relating to major developments.  

% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five working 
days 

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 49



P I  9

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6

2020-21 125.1 240.0 353.0 477.0

2021-22 125.4

2022-23

P I  8 P I   10

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 44.3% 44.2% 43.0% 42.6% 2019-20 1.9%

2020-21 45.7% 45.3% 44.5% 43.6% 2020-21 1.4%

2021-22 44.3% 2021-22

2022-23 2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 

Annual indicator 

% of household waste recycled

In the period April - June 2021 the total recycling and garden waste tonnages (excluding food waste) collected was 116 
tonnes greater than the period April - June 2021, an increase of 3.4%; while domestic refuse arisings fell by 39 tonnes, a 
decrease of 0.8%.  In the same time period, 100% of households received their scheduled refuse and recycling collection. 
To support our residents to recycle correctly, in the summer edition of Your Borough we published an article to show 
residents what should be recycled and how to find out if a particular item can be recycled.  The piece also showed an 
image of a contaminated recycling load that was rejected for non-conformance in order to illustrate the extent of 
contamination found in some of the loads collected.

Officers have been engaging with the Kent Resource Partnership, RECOUP (a plastics recycling charity) and other Kent 
councils to deliver the Pledge2Recycle Plastics community education programme.  The plastics recycling education 
project will run throughout Kent from summer 2021 through to spring 2022.  The project aims to minimise confusion about 
plastics recycling in order to minimise contamination and increase plastics recycling.  Residents will also be encouraged 
to reduce, reuse and recycle plastics as much as possible.

The roll-out of recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins in our parks & open spaces has continued with the installation of litter bins with 
recycling compartments at the Riverside Leisure Area to enable park users to recycle their litter while on the go. A project 
plan has also been developed to deliver recycling ‘on-the-go’ to higher footfall locations across the borough, such as at 
shopping parades, as part of street scene improvements.  The project will be supported with ‘Binfrastructure’ grant funds 
awarded to GBC by WRAP (the ‘Waste & Resource Action Plan’) and DEFRA after a successful bid earlier this year.

In terms of flats recycling, a phased approach to the introduction and enhancement of recycling provision has been 
prepared.  Initially, sheltered schemes will pilot the improvements.  These will include bin stickering, leaflet delivery, the 
introduction of dry mixed recycling in the 5% of sheltered flats without recycling provision and the expansion of the flats 
food waste trial to all sheltered flats.  Works will begin imminently. Bin stickers and leaflets have been procured and a 
project plan has been produced to support users of any new services or facilities introduced.  Work is also being 
undertaken by Housing to ensure that general housing flats have sufficient and appropriate waste storage to 
accommodate both refuse and recycling. 

A preliminary desktop audit of private flats in the borough has revealed that approximately 32% of private blocks currently 
have dry mixed recycling provision. Subsequent surveys will be undertaken to assist management agents in ensuring that 
appropriate recycling provision is put in place for use by their tenants.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Total volume of residual waste per household (kg)

% of household waste sent to landfill

Waste & Recycling update - Stuart Alford 

3. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of household 
recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the borough.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

35%

40%

45%

50%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

0

200

400

600

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0%

2%

4%

6%

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 50



P I  11

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 2.0 2.1

2020-21 1.2 1.2 2.4 2.4

2021-22 2.6

2022-23

P I  12

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

2020-21 N/A 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

2021-22 4.0%

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
4. Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a 
comprehensive programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 
In the period April - June 2021 the total street litter, fly-tipping and mechanical sweeper tonnages collected 
by Street Cleansing staff was 85 tonnes greater than the period April - June 2020, an increase of 10.5%. 

While fly-tipping tonnages fell slightly, litter collection tonnages increased by 12.2% when compared to the 
same period last year.  This increase can be attributed to an enhanced litter picking regime by our 
Operatives as well as the contribution of more than 300 Street Champions who regularly litter pick within the 
borough.

Mechanical sweeper tonnages increased by 72.3% compared to the same period the previous year.  This 
outcome can be attributed to the enhanced operational capacity afforded by the brand new 15 tonne Scarab 
Sweeper that joined the fleet in April 2021 to sweep the main routes, freeing up our smaller sweepers for 
side road cleansing.  While the new Scarab and sweeping regime has improved street sweeping efficiency, 
the schedules continue to be adjusted to further enhance the service. 

Since 1st April 2021, Gravesham’s Street Champions have collected 579 sacks of litter.  The annual Great 
British Spring Clean took place between Friday 28th May and Sunday 13th June.  For the Spring Clean, 10 
distinct litter picks were undertaken by schools and community groups.  In total, 32 locations across the 
borough were litter picked, with 195 volunteers collecting 314 sacks of litter.  

The parks & open spaces litter bin replacement programme has continued with works beginning at the 
Riverside Leisure Area and at Woodlands Park.  Across St Andrew’s Gardens, the Riverside Leisure Area, 
Woodlands Park and Camer Park, a 168% increase in litter capacity will be delivered.  In conjunction with 
increased litter bin capacity, enhanced bin emptying and litter picking at weekends have improved litter 
management in our parks & open spaces.

As detailed previously, dedicated playground inspection software has been procured by the Horticultural 
Services Team to enhance the collation of reports and the monitoring of repairs.  Feedback from the Park 
Rangers has been positive and the software has enabled the team to plan works more efficiently, check that 
works have been completed and also monitor defects more closely. 

Works on the ‘Buzz Garden’ at Windmill Gardens have continued with additional plants being planted, 
composting areas constructed, a gabion bench installed and signage and interpretation put in place.  
Together, the wild and the cultivated areas will help to provide bumblebees with food and shelter throughout 
the seasons.

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)

% of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

N/A

0

1

2

3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

P
age 51



P I   39

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100%

2020-21 100%

2021-22

2022-23

% of council play sites annually inspected

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
1. Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and 
promote opportunities for active lives.
Our dedicated team continue to work hard to ensure all public parks and open spaces remain 
open, safe and maintained to a high standard to ensure that the public have local quality parks and 
open spaces available for exercise and recreation, in order to help to improve well-being and 
mental health.

The new playground inspection software has enabled the efficient planning of works and has 
facilitated enhanced defect monitoring and resolution.

#2 PLACE 

40%

60%

80%

100%

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 52



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 22 September 2021

Reporting officer: Wendy Lane, Assistant Director (Planning)
Stuart Alford, Assistant Director (Operations)
Elizabeth Thornton, Service Manager Property & Regulatory

Subject: Corporate Register of Partnership – July 2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of the council’s 
involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the committee.

Recommendations:
This paper is for information only purposes.

1. Introduction

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community.  This was further amplified during the council’s, and the community’s, 
response to the COVID pandemic.

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working 
Arrangements which provides a central record of partnerships in which the council 
is involved. The register is available on the council website and is reviewed and 
updated on an annual basis.

1.3 The register provides a general overview of the partnership, along with details of 
the main aims and objectives of the partnership and how the joint-working 
approach contributes and supports the delivery of council objectives.

2. Operational Services Cabinet Committee

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Operational 
Services Cabinet Committee are as follows:
2.1.1 Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) Partnership
2.1.2 Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) Members Board

Page 53 Agenda Item 9



2

2.1.3 Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships above is shown at appendix 
two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these partnerships 
and the contribution they make to delivering services to the community.

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Report to Full Council – 22 June 2021 - Working in Partnership Framework – 
June 2021

 Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements – July 
2021 published on the council’s website - Corporate partnerships 
(gravesham.gov.uk)

3.2 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements

Page 54

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  
As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework, all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements are formally 
considered by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals 
are taken into account prior to entering into a new arrangement.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk Assessment Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Partnership and shared working will potentially contribute to all of the strategic 
objectives of the council.  

Page 55

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Climate Change A specific section has been included within the partnership register to identify how 
partnerships contribute to the council's overall Climate Change commitment (if 
applicable).

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications with this report.  

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital and website implications with this report.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

A specific section has been included within the partnership register to identify how 
partnerships contribute to the council's overall Safeguarding commitment (if 
applicable).

Page 56



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements

July 2021

A summary of partnership and shared working 
arrangements 

Operational Services 
Portfolio

Appendix TwoPage 57



Gravesham Borough Council        - 2 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Introduction
The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement that is 
reviewed on an annual basis.  

Partnerships
The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent 
bodies to work together to achieve the council’s Corporate objectives”.

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other partnerships’.  
In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following definition:

“A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within the council’s Corporate Plan. 
Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key 
corporate goals would not occur.  This will also include those partnerships that have been established 
to deliver legal or statutory requirements on behalf of the council.”

The council is currently involved in the following partnerships:

Page Ref. Name of Partnership Significant

3 Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) Partnership 

6 Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) Members Board 

8 Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership

Glossary of Terms (Page 10)
Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be useful to 
provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the terminology used within the 
document.

Page 58



Gravesham Borough Council        - 3 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) Partnership

Responsible Officer Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Lee Croxton Lead Member for Operational Services

Statutory Status Statutory Partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To secure the conservation and enhancement of the Kent Downs AONB 
whilst supporting the social and economic wellbeing of its communities. 
Objectives: (1) to help realise the strategic vision for the Kent Downs 
AONB, and to oversee the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan; (2) to 
provide advice to those of its members with statutory responsibilities for 
the effective management of the Kent Downs AONB.

Expected outcomes (1) A secure and more independent Kent Downs AONB Partnership.
(2) A Kent Downs AONB Partnership which is recognised as ‘The 

Champion’ for the AONB.
(3) The delivery of a well-supported Kent Downs AONB Management 

Plan through partners and focussed Kent Downs AONB led projects.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People 
 improve the local environment
 create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive 

town centre
Objective #2 Place 
 enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy
 raise Gravesham’s economic profile
 improve economic conditions
 improve resident well-being
 enhance the borough’s cultural offer
GBC has a statutory duty placed upon it to act jointly, in partnership with 
other local authorities to prepare and review an AONB Management Plan 
under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.  GBC also has a 
statutory ‘duty of regard’ placed on it towards the purposes of the AONB in 
all of its functions – the AONB Management Unit assists with this work in 
partnership with the other member local authorities. CROW act requires a 
Management Plan reviewed on a 5 year cycle.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Financial: annual contribution of £4,138 as a standstill budget to be 
reviewed annually.  This matches all other AONB Kent district local 
authorities and is around 1.3% of the AONB Management Unit’s £310,641 
core budget; 72% coming from DEFRA and 28% coming from Natural 
England.
Human Resources: 1 officer and 1 member attendance (twice yearly) at 
the AONB Joint Advisory Committee (JAC). – see 
https://www.kentdowns.org.uk/about-us/who-we-are/joint-advisory-
committee/ . Required to comment on consultation documents and take 
forward to adoption as appropriate with GBC.
Use of Buildings: the Kent Downs AONB Partnership does not require 
use of GBC offices for the JAC Meetings.  JAC Meetings are held within 
the AONB at various locations at no additional cost to GBC.

Page 59

https://www.kentdowns.org.uk/about-us/who-we-are/joint-advisory-committee/
https://www.kentdowns.org.uk/about-us/who-we-are/joint-advisory-committee/


Gravesham Borough Council        - 4 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Partnership membership Public: Natural England, English Heritage, Ashford Borough Council, 
Canterbury City Council, Dover District Council, Gravesham Borough 
Council, Kent County Council, London Borough of Bromley, Maidstone 
Borough Council, Medway Council, Sevenoaks District Council, Shepway 
District Council, Swale Borough Council, Tonbridge & Malling Borough 
Council, Kent Association of Local Councils, Environment Agency.
Private: Country Land and Business Association, National Farmers Union, 
Visit Kent.
Voluntary: Action with Communities in Rural Kent.

Governance arrangements Terms of Reference:
The Kent Downs AONB Partnership has a set of Terms of Reference 
agreed by the JAC covering: (1) Remit; (2) Membership; (3) Power to Co-
opt; (4) Voting Rights; (5) Election of Chairman; (6) Frequency of 
Meetings; (7) Secretariat; (8) Agenda.
Constitution:
The Kent Downs AONB Partnership constitutes:
(1) JAC; (2) Executive Group; (3) AONB Forum; (4) Sub-committees;      
(5) AONB Management Unit.
Memorandum of Understanding:
A Memorandum of Understanding was signed by all partner local 
authorities and Natural England.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Financial Reporting Time Frame:
A report is prepared by the AONB Management Unit Director on the 
financial position which is presented as an item at each JAC meeting 
(twice yearly).
Budget Monitoring/Management:
The JAC agrees the annual budget and the priorities for the Kent Downs 
AONB.  Each partner may ask for further details should it wish.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Performance Monitoring Arrangements:
Regular reports are prepared and presented to the Kent Downs AONB 
Partnership JAC and Executive, which meet twice yearly and four times 
yearly respectively.  The Business Continuity Plan is reviewed annually 
and presented to the JAC and Executive.  A monitoring arrangement has 
been agreed nationally with Natural England.
Review of Partnership Arrangements:
In 2002, a review of staffing and governance was undertaken.  In 2008 
(following the review of the AONB Management Plan), a review of the 
Terms of Reference was undertaken.  The AONB Management Unit has 
commissioned an internal audit of its finances and management 
arrangements.

Risk Assessment Risk Assessment:
The Kent Downs AONB Management Unit has a Business Continuity Plan 
and a Risk Register which covers the risks of the Unit and, to some extent, 
the Partnership (available on request).
Risk to Council:
Failure to meet its statutory duties including the ‘duty of regard’ to the Kent 
Downs AONB.
Mitigation:
The Kent Downs AONB Partnership has been successful at meeting its 
aims and objectives; therefore it has not been necessary to take mitigation 
action.

Page 60



Gravesham Borough Council        - 5 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Safeguarding Obligations Through work with education sector and pupil engagement they will 
ensure that they maintain a safe and trusted environment for everyone 
who comes in to contact with them, including their staff and volunteers. 
They will follow the processes set out by KCC for their staff.

Equalities Obligations The current version of the Management Plan 2021-2026 is accompanied 
by a equalities impact assessment part 1 screening assessment and this 
finds no negative impacts for 8 of the 9 protected characteristics and it 
considers that ‘marriage and civil partnerships’ is N/A.

Climate Change 
Considerations

The overall vision for the AONB remains unchanged. This revision seeks 
to respond to the changing context in which the 20 year vision operates – 
including the level of housing growth expected in Kent and climate, 
agriculture and biodiversity challenges and opportunities. 
This is because it is recognised that the Kent Downs are vulnerable to 
changes in the natural environment being generally a dry and free-draining 
landscape, and located in one of the driest parts of the country where 
predicted climate change will be most strongly felt.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

14 July 1997 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 61



Gravesham Borough Council        - 6 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) Members Board

Responsible Officer Stuart Alford, Assistant Director (Operations)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Lee Croxton, Lead Member for Operational Services

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To deliver the objectives of the Kent Waste Strategy: 
1. Maximising the Value of Resources

a. To recycle at least 50% across Kent by 2020/21.
b. To reduce residual waste collected across Kent.
c. No more than 2% of Kent’s waste to go to landfill.
d. Joint approach to use of third sector & charities to deliver 

reuse of bulky waste.
e. Explore the possibility of implementing recycling on the go.

2. Value for Money for Kent Taxpayers
a. Develop a joint approach to tackle litter and fly tipping.  

Working with appropriate partners such as Highways England.
b. Sharing resources and providing joint communication 

campaigns for recycling, littering and fly tipping.
c. Joint working to deliver first class health & safety standards 

across the county.
3. Engagement, Collaboration and Partnership Working

a. Maximise engagement with national and local government and 
those operating across the supply chain.

b. Produce an annual report that reflects the focus and priorities 
of the previous year.

c. The partnership’s strategy to be fully reviewed in 2021/22.
4. Future Thinking

a. Aligning with key policies such as EU circular economy 
package, environment plan and imminent resource and waste 
strategy.

b. Developing other metrics and means to focus on quality and 
value of resources.

c. Consider requirements to secure infrastructure to enhance 
and develop the local resource management and waste 
facilities.

Look at the development of a consistent collection specification across all 
councils.

Expected outcomes The expected outcomes of the partnership are:
 To strengthen co-operation and joint-working across the council’s in 

the partnership; and
 An increased awareness across the county of waste and recycling 

service including waste minimisation.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People Progress
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

Page 62



Gravesham Borough Council        - 7 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 A budget of £288,250 is available for the Kent Resource Partnership in 
2021/22.  Gravesham Borough Council contributes £15,000 per year 
towards this overall budget.

 Officer and Member time from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder(s) and 
Director or Assistant Director.

Partnership membership All local authorities in Kent

Governance arrangements The Kent Resource Partnership has an Operating Framework in place.  
The framework sets out the governance arrangements for the partnership 
as a whole including (but not limited to):
 Setting the scope of works for the partnership around three key areas; 

waste collection and waste disposal functions, street cleansing 
functions and environmental enforcement functions;

 Setting out the strategic structure within which the Kent Resource 
partnership operates;

 Providing details of the specific governance of the Members Board; 
frequency of meetings, agenda arrangements, quorum details, chair 
and vice-chair selection, decision making process etc.;

 Providing details of the Officers Advisory Group and the Operational 
Review & Improvement Group in a similar fashion to the Members 
Board above; and

 Details of the resources available to the partnership along with the 
expected contribution from partner organisations.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The Kent Resource Partnership agrees a Budget Plan and a Delivery Plan 
on an annual basis.
Kent Resource Partnership Members Board is provided financial updates 
three times a year when it meets.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Partnership is reviewed annually.  Performance information is reported 
every quarter.

Risk Assessment --

Safeguarding Obligations N/A

Equalities Obligations The Partnership works with the community to ensure that all services 
across Kent are inclusive and accessible for all.

Climate Change 
Considerations

Within the Kent Resource Partnership there is an action to work on carbon 
reduction initiatives whether that be alternate fuelled vehicles or reduced 
transportation of waste across the County or Country.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

12 March 2007 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 63



Gravesham Borough Council        - 8 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership

Responsible Officer Elizabeth Thornton, Service Manager Property & Regulatory

Lead Member(s) Councillor Lee Croxton, Lead Member for Operational Services

Statutory Status Non-statutory Partnership (Department for the Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA) recognised good practice)

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The major aims and objectives of the Partnership are:
 Facilitate a co-ordinated approach through Kent and Medway for the 

Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) obligations placed on local 
authorities under the Environment Act 1995;

 Compile, update and maintain an Emissions Inventory of air pollution 
sources in and around Kent, to assist with the LAQM process;  

 Comment on and influence the economic, planning and transport 
policies within the county so that air quality issues are properly 
considered and addressed;

 Gain an understanding of the health implications associated with poor 
air quality and the threat it poses to the health of Kent and Medway’s 
communities;

 To promote an awareness of air quality issues by working with national 
agencies, neighbouring authorities, and European partners and to 
participate in joint initiatives to further the knowledge and 
understanding of air quality issues; and  

 Liaise with DEFRA and Government bodies to assist with the 
implementation of the National Air Quality Strategy.

Expected outcomes Continued partnership working across Kent working closely with public 
health colleagues at Medway Council and Kent County Council.
The Partnership is working with Kent Public Health to deliver an 
Awareness raising campaign around the links between air quality and 
health. Material for a number of key groups, i.e. professionals/decision 
makers, business, the general public, children/parents is being developed. 
This has included a toolkit for schools linked to the national curriculum. It 
has been completed and is available for wider use.
Opportunities for reduced costs and efficiency gains through joint 
procurement –such as is currently in place for the Kent and Medway Air 
Quality Monitoring Network and Local Air Quality Management Reports 
(LAQM)
Opportunities to participate in external funding bids.
Dissemination of knowledge and good practice.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People 
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Six days per year. 
No financial implications of the Partnership itself; however Gravesham 
currently pays £5605 +VAT per annum as part of the jointly procured 
contract for the Kent and Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network.

Partnership membership All local authorities in Kent, Environment Agency, King’s College London, 
Health Authority, Highways Agency, Kent County Council, Kent Highways, 
KCC Public Health.

Page 64



Gravesham Borough Council        - 9 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Governance arrangements The Kent & Medway Air Quality Partnership is an officer group reporting to 
the Kent Environmental Health Managers Group. As such only minimal 
governance arrangements are in place relating to terms of reference and 
frequency of meetings. Minutes are taken from the meetings and reported 
to all partners.  These are not published in the public domain as this has 
not been considered necessary in the past however they are available to 
the public on request.  

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Kent & Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network contract awarded in 2017 
and financially monitored by Swale Council. Previous to this Medway has 
been the procurement authority.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

An officer from Gravesham BC is included in the Kent and Medway Air 
Quality Monitoring Network Contract Group which monitors the contract 
and the performance of the contractor. 
The AQ Partnership will continue indefinitely.  
The Monitoring Network will continue as long as it is supported by 
members at the time of contract renewal.  At the current time all Kent 
authorities (except Dartford and Sevenoaks who are in the London 
network) are committed to a minimum of a three year data management 
contract for their monitoring stations.  
The aims and objectives are currently under review to ensure they include 
our public health responsibilities. 

Risk Assessment It is not a statutory duty to be a member of the Partnership however it is 
recognised by DEFRA as an example of good practice which assists in 
ensuring consistency across the county. 
It is however a statutory duty to have air quality monitoring data managed 
and collated and disseminated to the public.  
The Kent & Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network contract includes this 
for all members.  Dissemination to member, the public, developers and 
consultants is by the www.kentair.org.uk website.  

Safeguarding Obligations N/A 

Equalities Obligations The council’s Air Quality work benefits all however those living in socially 
deprived areas are more likely to benefit from improvements in air quality 
as they tend to be most affected and be near busy main roads. 

Climate Change 
Considerations

The work of the Air Quality Partnership and the Climate Change work of 
the council are intrinsically linked and dependent on each other. They are 
both about the minimisation of emissions from vehicles, buildings etc. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Partnership created in 1992 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 65

http://www.kentair.org.uk/


Gravesham Borough Council        - 10 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Glossary of Terms
To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register.

Term Used Meaning

Business Continuity 
Plan

A plan that sets out how an organisation will respond and manage business 
disruption in case of unforeseen events.

Corporate Plan A document which sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s corporate priorities for a 
period of years and provides details of the actions to be undertaken towards 
achieving those objectives.

CROW Act The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 normally gives a public right of access 
to land mapped as 'open country' (mountain, moor, heath and down) or registered 
common land. These areas are known as 'open access land'.

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) – the UK government 
department responsible for policy and regulations on environmental, food and rural 
issues.

Emissions Inventory An emission inventory is an account of the amount of pollutants discharged into the 
atmosphere within the area.  

Environment Act 
1995

The Environment Act 1995 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which created a 
number of new agencies and set new standards for environmental management.

Kent Waste Strategy A sustainable household waste management strategy that sets out how the 
Partnership will manage Kent’s waste over the next 20 years (Strategy approved in 
2007).

Memorandum of 
Understanding/ 
Agreement (MOU) 

A written document describing the roles and responsibilities of two (or more) parties 
on a particular venture.  An MOU is less formal than a contract, but is often signed 
by the parties involved to indicate their agreement to the principles contained in the 
MOU.  A MOU is sometimes a precursor to a formal agreement.

National Air Quality 
Strategy

The National Air Quality Strategy (NAQS) was established as part of the UK 
Government’s 1995 Strategic Policy for Air Quality Management. It uses health 
based standards as a framework to control the levels of seven designated air 
pollutants of seven air pollutants that are known to have adverse health effects.

Natural England Natural England is an executive non-departmental public body, sponsored by the 
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs.  Their role is to advise the 
government on the natural environment in England.

Operating 
Framework

A guide to a company's/organisation’s policies, goals, standards, procedures and 
training.

Significant 
partnership

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within 
the council’s Corporate Plan. Without this effective partnership therefore, the 
delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.  This 
will also include those partnerships that have been established to deliver legal or 
statutory requirements on behalf of the council.

Page 66


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Operational Services Update
	6 Flats Recycling Update
	7 Taxi Tariff
	8 Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22
	Operational Services - Q1 2021-22 (Appendix 2)
	Q1 2021-22


	9 Corporate Register of Partnership
	2. Appendix 2 Register of Partnerships - JULY 2021 - Operational




